Connecticut College

Digital Commons @ Connecticut College

Behavioral Neuroscience Honors Papers

Neuroscience Program

2023

Examining the Role of Chronic Stress in Cancer Progression and Metastasis: p53 as a Potential Mechanism

Jillian R. Dean

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.conncoll.edu/bneurosciencehp

Part of the Behavioral Neurobiology Commons

This Honors Paper is brought to you for free and open access by the Neuroscience Program at Digital Commons @ Connecticut College. It has been accepted for inclusion in Behavioral Neuroscience Honors Papers by an authorized administrator of Digital Commons @ Connecticut College. For more information, please contact bpancier@conncoll.edu.

The views expressed in this paper are solely those of the author.

Examining the Role of Chronic Stress in Cancer Progression and Metastasis: p53 as a Potential Mechanism

An honors thesis presented by Jillian Dean

To the Department of Neuroscience In partial fulfillment of the requirements for Honors Thesis

> Connecticut College New London, Connecticut

> > May 4, 2023

Abstract

The influence of stress on the development and progression of cancer has been a longstanding hypothesis. Chronic stress can have a significant impact on the immune system and inflammatory response, potentially leading to decline of the body's immune capabilities (Segerstrom & Miller, 2004). Stress activates the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis, which triggers the release of stress hormones, such as cortisol (Smith & Vale, 2006). When chronically activated, this can lead to corresponding changes in the immune system, including decreased activity of natural killer cells, which play a crucial role in identifying and destroying cancer cells. Chronic inflammation has also been shown to promote the growth and metastasis of cancer cells and it can also damage DNA, leading to mutations that can contribute to carcinogenesis (Singh et al., 2019).

While it's clear that chronic stress can have a negative impact on the immune system and inflammatory response and may also play an important role in cancer pathology, the mechanisms remain unclear. The tumor suppressor gene (TP53) encodes a protein called p53, which is a key modulator in the innate and adaptive immune system and is the most frequently mutated gene in cancer (Hernandez Borrero & El-Deiry, 2021). The phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN) gene provides instructions for producing an enzyme found in almost all tissues in the body. The enzyme acts as a tumor suppressor and is one of the p53 outputs mediating proliferation. Murine Double Minute 2 (MDM2) is a proto-oncogene that forms a negative feedback loop with p53 and acts as a negative regulator. The overexpression of MDM2 inhibits p53 expression. Here, we examine the role of chronic stress on carcinogenesis through a loss or attenuation of p53 in mouse astrocytes lacking the functional TP53 gene. To investigate this, we focus on corticosterone (main corticosteroid hormone in mice) and a select number of genes, TP53,

MDM2, and PTEN. We hypothesize that chronic stress, modeled in this study by prolonged exposure to corticosterone, promotes downregulation of proteins in the p53 regulatory pathway.

Acknowledgements

There are many people I need to thank for making this thesis possible. First, I would like to thank my incredible thesis advisor, Dr. E. Carla Parker-Athill. Thank you for being my first introduction to the biology department at Connecticut College. I am endlessly grateful for everything you have taught me about conducting scientific research and your patience and willingness to embark on this journey as I explored a new question for both of us. You spent hours upon hours with me constructing this experiment, which was only possible due to your support, guidance, and knowledge. I could never thank you enough for all the time, energy, and effort you have given me and this project.

I would also like to thank Dr. Joseph Schroeder for being an incredible major advisor and secondary thesis advisor. Thank you for being available to me throughout this process and answering my never-ending questions. You have helped me grow immensely as a student. To my secondary reader, Dr. Martha Grossel, thank you for being my first introduction to cell biology and teaching me to be a self-directed student and researcher. I could never thank you enough for your support over the past year and a half, for always being available to me, and for your endless faith in me and my abilities. You have been my constant support and I am forever grateful for your continued encouragement and belief in me. I would also like to thank Dr. Ruth Grahn. I've had the fortune of taking several of your courses at Conn. You have significantly shaped my thinking and influenced my interest in the intersection of biology and neuroscience, which inspired this thesis. Thank you to the other members of the Parker Lab, especially Nartsav Omur, who have contributed time, help, and ideas to this project.

Finally, thank you to my family, especially my parents, for your continued love, support, encouragement, and belief in me. You have supported me every step of the way and I am endlessly grateful for everything you have done for me. Even though you didn't understand what I was doing, thank you for always listening and reading my work. You have my whole heart.

Table of Contents

Title Page	1
Abstract	2
Table of Contents	5
List of Abbreviations	6
Chapter 1: Introduction	8
Stress	9
Cortisol	11
Cancer	13
Evading Growth Suppressors	14
Resisting Cell Death	14
Nervous System Cancers	15
Transformation of Glial cells	16
The Cell Cycle	17
The Cell Cycle and p53	19
Apoptosis	19
P53	21
P53 Pathway	22
Input Signals	23
Upstream Mediators	24
Downstream Mediators	26
Loss of p53 Function	
Chronic Stress and Cancer	29
Potential Mechanisms of Action	30
Chapter 2: Materials and Methods	
Chapter 3: Results	
Chapter 4: Discussion	46
Conclusion	49
References	51

List of Abbreviations

ACTH	Adrenocorticotropic hormone			
AIP	Atrophin-1 interacting protein			
APAF-1	Apoptosis protease-activating factor 1			
ARF	Adenosine diphosphate-Ribosylation Factor			
ATM	Ataxia-Telangiectasia Mutated			
ATR	Ataxia telangiectasia and Rad3-related protein			
Bax	Bcl-2 Associated X-protein			
Bcl-2	B-cell lymphoma 2			
Bid	BH3 Interacting Domain Death Agonist			
Cdc2	Cell division control			
CDK 1 or 2	Cyclin dependent kinase			
CHK 1 or 2	Checkpoint kinase 1 or 2			
CNS	Central nervous system			
CRH	Corticotronin releasing hormone			
DMP1	Dentin matrix acidic phosphoprotein 1			
E2F-1	E2 promoter binding factor 1			
ESCs	Embryonic stem cells			
Fas	Fas Cell Surface Death Recentor			
GADD45	Growth arrest and DNA damage-inducible 45			
HPA	Hypothalamic-nituitary-adrenal axis			
IL-1 or 6	Interleukin 1 or 6			
INK4a	Family of cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors			
killer/DR5	Death receptor 5			
MDMX	Murine double minute x			
MDM2	Murine double minute 2			
Myc	Myelocytomatosis oncogene			
NF-ĸB	Nuclear factor kappa B			
Noxa	Phorbol-12-Myristate-13-Acetate-Induced Protein 1			
Nrf2	E2-transcription factor			
p14ARF	Protein 14 adenosine diphosphate-ribosylation factor			
P21	Protein 21			
P53	Protein 53			
PFT-α	Pifithrin-alpha			
PTEN	Phosphatase and tensin homolog			
Pern	P53 Apoptosis Effector Related to PMP22			
Puma	n53 upregulated modulator of apoptosis			
PIGS	Phosphatidylinositol Glycan Anchor Biosynthesis Class S			
PIDD	P53-Induced Death Domain Protein			
Ras	Rat sarcoma			
Scotin	Protein			
Ser-166/186	Serine protease			
SGK1	Serine/threonine kinase 1			
TME	Tumor microenvironment			
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor			

TP53	Tumor protein 53
14-3-3σ	Epithelial cell marker and tumor suppressor protein

Chapter 1: Introduction

Stress is an integral part of our lives. Every living organism experiences some form of stress during its lifetime. While stress can be psychological, psychosocial, physical, or chemical, the focus of this research will be on the physiological manifestations of chronic stress. Stress is defined as an internal process that occurs when a person is faced with a demand that is perceived to exceed the resources available to effectively respond to it, and where failure to effectively deal with the demand has undesirable consequences (Schneiderman et al., 2005). While under stress, the body responds in a way similar to how it responds to danger. Stress can elicit cellular and molecular changes in the body, and while some of these changes are manifestations of the body's defensive adaptive reactions, other responses can be related to DNA damage (Mariotti, 2015).

Stress is a key disruptor of the homeostatic balance and we are constantly in flux trying to restore homeostasis. Stress can be divided into two categories, acute and chronic stress. Acute stress typically exists during emergencies, such as fighting or fleeing, or for a short duration followed by relief, while chronic stress is considered to be long-term and pervasive (Godoy et al., 2018). While under acute stress, changes occur in both the structure and function of certain molecules in the brain and activates the stress response system allowing us to employ healthy coping mechanisms (Godoy et al., 2018). As a response, the body temporarily produces catecholamines and corticosteroids and acute stress is often considered to be beneficial to the body (Godoy et al., 2018). Chronic stress, however, threatens the ability to maintain homeostasis by exhausting the body's capacity to compensate leading to a full-blown inflammatory response (Chovatiya & Medzhitov, 2014).

Emerging research shows that chronic stress can encourage carcinogenesis and promote cancer growth (Yan et al., 2023). Carcinogenesis is a complex process where healthy cells are

8

transformed into cancer cells by undergoing changes at the cellular, genetic, and epigenetic levels (Costello & Franklin, 2011). Carcinogenesis does not occur without a mutation and a single mutation is typically not enough to develop cancer, but requires several mutations in the genome over its lifetime (Costello & Franklin, 2011). These mutations can be acquired through genetic conditions or acquired during a person's lifetime called environmental factors (Costello & Franklin, 2011). While increasing bodies of evidence suggests that DNA damage is increased by exposure to stress and stress hormones, little is known about the mechanism of the molecular pathways responsible for stress-induced DNA damage (Flint & Bovbjerg, 2012).

Stress

General adaptation syndrome is how the body responds to stress (Selye, 1950). There are three stages to stress: (1) The alarm stage. During this time, the central nervous system is awakened, causing the body's defenses to assemble. This "SOS" stage results in the fight-orflight response that is considered to be a healthy response and coping mechanism. Physiological arousal is the basis for the fight-or-flight response characterized by adaptive physiological changes like increased heart rate, increased hormonal activity, etc (Selye, 1950). (2) The resistance stage. During resistance, the body begins to repair itself and normalize heart rate, blood pressure, and return the body to its baseline prior to encountering the stressor. After the initial shock of a stressful event, the body enters the recovery phase, but remains on high alert for a period of time. The body tries to defend itself by fending off the stressor and attaining homeostasis. If the stress persists, or additional stress in any form is encountered, the third stage of exhaustion occurs, which results in the breakdown of the body's defense mechanism (Selye, 1950). (3) The exhaustion stage. Activation in the first two stages continues over time, causing a breakdown in the balance within the body. Energy sources are spent and continued exposure to stress during the stage of exhaustion can lead to the development of diseases and immunocompromisation (Selye, 1950).

Chronic stress activates the neuroendocrine system and SNS (Smith & Vale, 2006). The main component of the neuroendocrine system is the HPA axis. In addition to controlling reactions to stress, the HPA axis regulates digestion, immune function, mood, and emotions (Smith & Vale, 2006). The hypothalamus contains neuroendocrine neurons that synthesize and secrete vasopressin and corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH), which regulate the pituitary gland and stimulate the production of adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) (Smith & Vale, 2006). In turn, ACTH stimulates the adrenal cortices to produce glucocorticoids, mainly cortisol. Glucocorticoids act on the hypothalamus and pituitary to suppress the production of CRH and ACTH, completing this negative feedback loop to extinguish the stress response (Smith & Vale, 2006) (figure 1).

Real or interpreted threats to homeostasis induce the release of adrenaline and noradrenaline along with glucocorticoids initiating the fight-or-flight response during periods of acute stress (Goldstein, 2010). When exposed to chronic stress, the HPA axis becomes continuously activated for prolonged periods, leading to hyperactivity. This excessive activity causes other biological systems to overcompensate, leading to eventual collapse (Juster et al., 2010). The resulting HPA axis dysfunction may manifest as hypercortisolism, hypocortisolism, or diurnal dysrhythmia. Chronic stress elevates ACTH levels, which in turn, increases cortisol while depleting other glucocorticoids (Juster et al., 2010).

10

The HPA axis therefore shifts from a hyper-responsive state to a hypo-responsive state, and eventually to an unresponsive state known as "adrenal fatigue" (Dhabhar, 2009). This attenuation of the stress response might be a defensive mechanism to prevent long term suppression of immune function (Dhabhar, 2009). Stress hormones can affect human tumor biology in various ways. The activation of the HPA axis can alter immune defense mechanisms and anti-tumor immune capabilities, promoting tumor progression in cancer patients (Hong et al., 2021). Cancer-related systemic inflammation is associated with poor outcomes, irrespective of tumor stage (Roxburgh & McMillan, 2014). Additionally, clinical studies suggest that stress and depression can lead to decreased cellular immunity and immune alterations in cancer patients (Liu et al., 2022). SNS hormones, which signal through β -adrenergic receptors, have been shown to regulate disease progression and metastasis. Stimulation of these receptors can impact cancer cell biology, especially metastasis (Cole et al., 2015).

Cortisol

Cortisol is a glucocorticoid synthesized by the adrenal cortex and has important immunosuppressive and anti-inflammatory effects making it an ideal starting point for researching cancer (Coutinho & Chapman, 2011). Cortisol is involved in metabolism, immune response, inflammation, and triggers the fight or flight response making it an ideal starting point for better understanding the role of stress in cancer progression (Coutinho & Chapman, 2011). The amount of cortisol in the blood undergoes diurnal variation—it peaks in the early morning and reaches its lowest level approximately three to five hours after the onset of sleep (Mohd Amzi et al, 2021). Studies conducted on healthy adults suggest that chronic stressors that threaten physical integrity, are uncontrollable, or involve trauma, tend to result in a high daily release of cortisol with lower than normal levels in the morning and higher than normal levels in the evening (Michaud et al., 2008). At the cellular level, there are changes in the structural integrity of mitochondria, fragmentation of the Golgi complex, aggregation of cytoskeleton structures, and collapse of vimentin containing intermediate filaments around the nucleus (Machamer, 2015).



Figure 1. When the brain detects an environmental stressor, the Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis is activated. This results in the release of corticotrophin-releasing hormone (CRH) by the hypothalamus. CRH then stimulates the secretion of adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) by the anterior lobe of the pituitary gland. In response to ACTH, the adrenal glands produce glucocorticoids (cortisol), which generate a stress response (Lanoix & Plusquellec, 2013)

Cancer

The term 'cancer' does not refer to one single disease, rather a collection of different diseases that are related by certain qualities and characteristics (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2011). All cancer cells are derived from normal human cells, and therefore retain many features of the original cells. This means that almost any type of cell in the body has the potential to become cancerous (Rossi et al., 2020). There are over 100 types of cancer each exhibiting unique behaviors. These dissimilarities require tailored treatment approaches and research efforts that concentrate on specific cancer types rather than the disease in its entirety (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2011).

Given that cancer is a general term that encompasses various types of cancer, the fundamental question arises - what exactly *is* cancer? To answer this question, we can rely on Hanahan and Weinberg's eight hallmarks of cancer. All cancers share the following characteristics: (1) Sustaining proliferative signaling; (2) Evading growth suppressors; (3) Resisting cell death; (4) Enabling replicative immortality; (5) Inducing angiogenesis; (6) Activating invasion and metastasis; (7) Deregulating cellular energetics; (8) Evading immune destruction (Hanahan, 2022). Without most of these eight hallmarks, cancer would no longer be cancer. The focus of this research will relate to hallmarks one, two, and three.

Sustaining proliferative signaling

The first and arguably most significant hallmark is that cancer cells continue to grow infinitely, while normal healthy cells do not. The body has a highly controlled and regulated process that ensures cell growth is tightly regulated and monitored (Feitelson et al., 2015). This is a delicate balance throughout a person's lifetime that is lost when any one of the checks and balances are not functioning properly (Lee & Muller, 2010). Normal cell growth is tightly regulated by specialized proteins and other biological molecules, which are controlled by genes (Feitelson et al., 2015). With cancer, there are two types of genes: proto-oncogenes and tumor suppressor genes (Lee & Muller, 2010). Proto-oncogenes increase growth, while tumor suppressor genes decrease it and normally these genes operate synergistically (Lee & Muller, 2010). Even with a genetic mutation that excessively activates or over-expresses oncogenes, cancer must sustain its proliferative capacity and undergo a complex process that leads to metastasis (Feitelson et al., 2015). This process requires a large amount of energy, coordination, and timing, and a single point mutation is usually not enough for all of these things to occur (Feitelson et al., 2015).

Evading Growth Suppressors

Proto-oncogenes actively suppress cell growth. Some of the most commonly affected genes in cancer are tumor suppressor genes such as TP53 and PTEN (Cooper, 2000). If DNA damage is not recognized and repaired by these genes, mutated cells can proliferate (Cooper, 2000). Tumor suppressor genes are activated under these circumstances that normally inhibit proliferation of damaged or mutated cells by arresting cell cycle progression and inducing apoptosis (Cooper, 2000). These genes play a key role in determining whether cells undergo apoptosis or proliferate (Cooper, 2000).

Resisting Cell Death

When normal cells age or become damaged they undergo senescence or apoptosis. Apoptosis is the highly-organized destruction of a cell and is governed by a set of tightly regulated signals (Elmore, 2007). Apoptosis is a crucial element in several biological processes,

14

such as regular cell renewal, embryonic growth, immune function, and proper development (Elmore, 2007). It is a controlled and natural aspect of an organism's life cycle. Additionally, apoptosis acts as a protective mechanism, such as during immune responses or when cells are harmed by diseases (Elmore, 2007). This method of programmed cell death is defined by specific morphological features and energy-dependent biochemical mechanisms (Elmore, 2007).

This is an active process that requires energy and is so important it has been evolutionarily conserved amongst all multicellular organisms (Renehan, 2001). To avoid excessive growth, the number of old cells removed must be carefully balanced by the number of newer cells (Wong, 2011). Cancer cells resist undergoing apoptosis, offsetting the balance of cell division and cell death allowing for excessive growth (Wong, 2011). Cancer cells also produce telomerase, an enzyme which increases the length of telomeres at the end of chromosomes (Robinson & Schiemann, 2022). Because the telomere cap wear down at a much slower rate, cells can continue to divide, preventing apoptosis or cellular senescence (Robinson & Schiemann, 2022). Cells accumulate damage over their lifetime. Without programmed cell death, these damaged cells, which can include mutations, persist.

Nervous System Cancers

One of the most significant obstacles that oncology currently faces is nervous system cancers. Tumors in the central nervous system, which comprise both malignant and nonmalignant growths in the brain and spinal cord, pose a challenge in treatment due to the intricate nature of their biology, chemistry, and neurobiology (Park et al., 2021). Brain tumors are typically classified based on their cellular origin and may be low grade or high grade meaning less aggressive and more aggressive, respectively (Miller et al., 2021). While the cause

15

of primary brain tumors is largely unknown, some tumors have germ line mutations and are hereditary. The majority, however, result from somatic mutations. The most common type of brain tumor to occur at all ages is called a glioma (Miller et al., 2021).

Transformation of Glial Cells

Gliomas consist of glial cells and can be classified as an astrocytoma or ependymoma (Zong et al., 2012). Astrocytomas are the most common type of childhood glioma and typically occur in the cerebellum or brainstem. Malignant gliomas and glioblastomas, can develop anywhere in the brain and are much more aggressive than astrocytomas (Zong et al., 2012). Ependymomas are a type of glial tumor that typically arises from the cells lining the ventricles. These are often slower growing than the previously described tumors, but are most likely to recur after treatment (Zong et al., 2012). Mixed glial tumors, which typically involve a combination of astrocytes and ganglion cells, are more frequently observed in children than in adults. These tumors have the potential to arise in any part of the nervous system, although they predominantly occur in the cerebrum (Banu, 2019). During nervous system development, neuroepithelial cells differentiate into glial and nerve cells. Roughly 25% of nervous system tumors are tumors made up of poorly-differentiated neuroepithelial cells (Baba & Catoi, 2007). Choroid plexus tumors and germ cell tumors frequently arise in the region of the pineal gland and may therefore compromise HPA axis functions (Baba & Catoi, 2007).

The Cell Cycle

The eukaryotic cell cycle is broken into four parts: G1, S, G2, and M (Alberts, 2022) (figure 2). Most cells in the body undergo a cycle in which their genetic information is retained, fixed, and passed down to daughter cells through a highly-regulated process (Alberts, 2022). During interphase, some subdivisions are important to cell division and maintenance of the genetic material (G1, S, and G2) (Alberts, 2022). There are many situations where mistakes are made by the cycle or by a regulating system that causes the cell to proliferate uncontrollably (Alberts, 2022). Additionally, cells may enter into a 4th phase known as G0, when the cell no longer divides (Alberts, 2022). After mitosis, where cells divide into two cells, they enter into the G1 phase, a checkpoint for complete genetic function before the cells can start replicating DNA (Alberts, 2022). The G1 phase of the cell cycle progression also serves as a checkpoint for cells to either undergo repair mechanisms or follow the apoptotic pathway (Alberts, 2022).

When growth factors are overproduced or suppressor proteins are deficient, it can cause uncontrolled and swift cell division (Alberts, 2022). This unregulated proliferation of cells can lead to the development of cancer and result in endless mitotic activity (Alberts, 2022). During DNA replication, cancerous cells have the ability to use telomerase to append telomeric segments to the DNA ends. This allows these cells to persist for an extended period, in contrast to other somatic cells that typically have a limited lifespan, and therefore, continue to divide (Alberts, 2022).

One possible mechanism of the link between chronic stress and cancer could be telomere shortening. Each time a cell replicates, telomeres get shorter until they're so short cells can no longer divide. When cells are no longer able to divide, tissues age (Shammas, 2011). Telomerase can rebuild telomeres, but chronic stress and cortisol exposure is associated with a significant

17

reduction in telomerase activity (Mathur et al., 2016). This promotes a chronic inflammatory environment that supports an immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment (TME).



Figure 2. The eukaryotic cell cycle includes the G1 and G2 gap phases, the S-phase, and the M-phase of mitosis, along with a quiescent state known as G0. The colored arrows indicate the different phases of the cell cycle. Cyclin-dependent protein kinases (CDKs) bound to cyclins form complexes that regulate the cell cycle. These complexes are located at the front of the arrow corresponding to the relevant phase. Checkpoint pathways control cyclin-CDK complexes to prevent cells from advancing to the next stage if it is not permitted. A text insert outlines various stimuli that regulate checkpoint control (El-Aouar Filho et al., 2017).

The cell cycle and p53

The protein p53 plays a critical role in the cell cycle as a transcription factor that promotes growth arrest, DNA repair, apoptosis, and regulated cell death in damaging situations (Chen, 2016) (figure 3). p53 also regulates the expression of many inhibitory proteins like protein 21 (p21) and growth arrest and DNA damage inducible protein (GADD45) (E. Tamura et al., 2012). These proteins inhibit cell division cycle protein 2 homolog (Cdc2), which is crucial for the cell to progress through mitosis or meiosis (Alberts, 2022). The protein p21 allows the cell to move on from through the S phase by regulating another protein, cyclin-dependent kinase 2 (CDK2) (Alberts, 2022). Without this suppressor gene, these proteins would not be inhibited correctly, leading to cancer. If a mutation arises or an error goes uncorrected, the cell cycle's regulatory components are circumvented, allowing the mutation to propagate to all subsequent cells (Alberts 2022). Various chemotherapy drugs disrupt DNA strands to prevent cell replication once regulatory control has been subverted. Unfortunately, these medications cannot differentiate between healthy and dangerous DNA, causing the destruction of many other cells, frequently resulting in undesired off-target consequences (Alberts, 2022).

Apoptosis

The apoptotic pathways can be categorized as intrinsic and extrinsic. Extrinsic apoptosis begins by the binding of a ligand to a cell surface death receptor, such as Fas or tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) (Elmore, 2007). In the extrinsic pathway, cell surface death receptor (Fas), death receptor 5 (killer/DR5), and p53-induced death domain protein (PIDD) are regulated by p53, leading to the activation of caspase 8, BH3 interacting domain death agonist (Bid), and the release of cytochrome c (Cavalcante et al., 2019). Apoptitic peptidase activating factor (APAF-1), another p53-regulated gene, then works with cytochrome c to activate caspase 9 and 3,

ultimately resulting in apoptosis (Cavalcante et al., 2019). Meanwhile, in the intrinsic pathway, various p53-regulated genes, such as Bcl-2 Associated X-protein (bax), noxa, and Bcl-2-binding component 3 (puma), may promote cytochrome c release in different cell types (Elmore, 2007). The third p53 response is cellular senescence, which may be as crucial as apoptosis in p53's tumor suppressor functions (Elmore, 2007).

Research has shown that apoptosis and the genes that control it has a profound effect on the expression of malignant phenotype (Elmore, 2007). While some oncogenic mutations disrupt apoptosis leading to tumor initiation, progression, or metastasis, other evidence indicates that different oncogenic changes promote apoptosis, thereby resulting in pressure to override apoptosis during carcinogenesis (Lowe & Lin, 2000). Most cytotoxic anticancer agents induce apoptosis, and therefore highlights the possibility that dysfunction in apoptosis contributes to cancer treatment failure (Lowe & Lin, 2000).





P53

The p53 protein was first described in 1979, and shortly thereafter several studies were published that discussed the identification of a new cellular protein (Soussi, 2010). Unbeknownst to researchers at the time, their discovery would spur the advancement of an entirely new research field that would go on to become the most researched protein of all time. Since then, more than 150,000 papers have been published on the topic. The description of this protein and its gene has evolved from a virus-associated tumor antigen to an oncogene to a tumor suppressor gene (Soussi, 2010). This safe-guards genomic stability, a role for which p53 earned the nickname "guardian of the genome" (Mfossa et al., 2020). Researchers initially believed that p53 was an oncogene and early experiments supported this hypothesis. Over time, the complexity of its true function as a tumor suppressor and its implication in a myriad of diseases has slowly unraveled over the past forty years.

The regular function of p53 entails serving as a transcription factor that responds to damaged DNA by initiating cell cycle arrest or apoptosis, with the ultimate goal of safeguarding the DNA integrity of the cell (Chen, 2016). The outcome depends on the type and persistence of the damage and the level of p53 activation. Beyond this crucial function, TP53 also performs other roles in development, aging, and cell differentiation (Chen, 2016). Although p53 plays a significant role in various cellular activities, it is an unstable protein, and most of the mutations that impact its function occur on the DNA binding core domain, accounting for 95% of such mutations (Ozaki & Nakagawara, 2011). Through p53 regulated genes, the protein produces stress signal-carrying proteins that communicate with neighboring cells, facilitate the prevention and repair of damaged DNA, and create feedback loops that either amplify or reduce p53 activity, while interacting with other signal transduction pathways (Ozaki & Nakagawara, 2011).

p53 pathway

The p53 pathways comprises numerous genes and their corresponding products that respond to a diverse range of stress signals (figure 3) (Levine et al., 2006). The pathway can be divided into five parts; (1) Input signals that trigger or induce the network into a functional state. (2) Upstream mediators that detect and interpret those signals that initiate the functional pathway and relay the inputs to p53. (3) The core set of proteins, including p53 itself, which regulates p53 activity and function. (4) The downstream events which are composed of a set of genes and their proteins that are regulated by p53. (5) The cellular outputs of these downstream events which include cell cycle arrest, cellular senescence or apoptosis (Levine et al., 2006).



Figure 4. The input signals, mediators, and core functions of the p53 pathway. Stress signals are detected by the cell and communicated to p53. The regulation of P53 stability primarily relies on MDM2,

which, as a p53-target, creates a negative feedback loop. Additionally, protein modifiers and cofactors that bind to the p53 protein modulate the transcriptional activity of its target genes. Through this multistep process, the activation of p53 ultimately governs the stress response, determining the appropriate outcome (Hernandez Borrero & El-Diery, 2021)

Input Signals

The signaling pathway of the p53 protein comprises a group of genes and their corresponding proteins that react to diverse intrinsic and extrinsic stress signals, regulating the output of many biological processes (Hernandez Borrero & El-Diery, 2021). This pathway serves to oversee and regulate DNA damage and cell division to maintain cellular homeostasis. Various stressors can cause diverse types of DNA damage through different mechanisms, and each kind of damage is detected by specific proteins and repaired by distinct enzymes (Chatterjee & Walker, 2017). Although there exist multiple DNA damage detection and repair systems in the cell, the p53 pathway is responsible for responding to the majority of them, serving as a checkpoint for these processes and typically eliminating cells with errors (Ozaki & Nakagawara, 2011). As cells divide and telomeres shrink, the p53 protein is notified of the presence of these shorter telomeres, resulting in a p53-dependent response (Dang et al., 2008). Therefore, the question arises as to what other stress signals can trigger a p53 response, and whether chronic psychological stress or nervous system activity can activate p53.

Upstream Mediators

In response to these stresses, p53 undergoes post-translational modifications, promoting the transcription of genes involved in specific cellular responses according to the type of stressor (Hernandez Borrero & El-Deiry, 2021). The fundamental regulatory system comprises p53,

23

MDM2, p14ARF, and E2F-1, which are arranged in two feedback loops (Jin & Levine, 2001). One loop consists of p53 and MDM2, where p53 activates MDM2 transcription to positively regulate it, while MDM2 promotes the degradation of p53 by ubiquitination to negatively regulate it. The other loop is formed by E2F-1 and ARF, where E2F-1 induces ARF transcription, and ARF facilitates the degradation of E2F-1. The two feedback loops are interconnected in two ways: ARF blocks MDM2 mediated p53 degradation, thus stabilizing p53, and p53 inhibits ARF gene transcription (Jin & Levine, 2001). This intricate circuitry is crucial for controlling p53 intracellular levels and functions. However, many cancers exhibit defects in this system due to missense mutations of p53, MDM2 amplification, ARF silencing or deletion, and loss of E2F-1 regulation through RB mutation, among other mechanisms (Jin & Levine, 2001).

Cellular stresses signal p53 by disturbing the p53 regulatory circuit either directly or indirectly (Jin & Levine, 2001). DNA damage activates p53 through p53 upstream mediators, which include protein kinases, transcriptional coactivator complexes, transcriptional co-repressor complexes, and other p53 activity modulators (Jin & Levine, 2001). Most of these upstream mediators target p53 for post-translational modification (Jin & Levine, 2001). For example, DNA damage activates the protein kinases serine/threonine kinase (ATM), ataxia telangiectasia and Rad3 (ATR), checkpoint kinase (CHK1) and (CHK2), which in turn phosphorylate p53 and or MDM2 (Jin & Levine, 2001). Phosphorylation of p53 and or MDM2 activates p53 through three mechanisms: (1) stabilizing p53 by disrupting p53-MDM2 interaction; (2) regulating p53 transactivation activity; (3) promoting p53 nuclear localization. The oncogenes E2F-1, Ras, DMP1, and Myc enhance ARF transcription, whereas others downregulate it. (Jin & Levine, 2001) Research has shown that the p53 and MDM2 proteins are extensively modified after a stress signal (Ashcroft et al., 2000). Activation is the increase in the concentration of p53 and increased activity transcription of a set of genes that are transcriptionally regulated by p53 (Chen, 2016). The levels of p53 are regulated by its proteolytic turnover and the protein has a short half-life of 6–20 minutes conferred by the MDM2 protein (Ashcroft et al., 2000). p53 is also extensively modified by different protein kinases, histone acetyl-transferases, methylases, and other enzymes. These modifications include phosphorylation, acetylation, methylation, ubiquitination, and some of these modifications are involved in the response to DNA damage (Reed & Quelle, 2014). The p53 transcriptional output after each stressor is different, and these protein modifications dictate which p53 responsive genes are transcribed by the cell based upon the specific protein modifications of the p53 protein (Reed & Quelle, 2014).

Downstream Mediators

Upon activation, p53 activates or represses the transcription of its downstream effector genes (figure 4) (Chen, 2016). p53 may induce G1-S arrest by activating p21, a CDK2 inhibitor, or it may trigger G2-M by inducing 14-3-3 σ and GADD45 (Chen, 2016). The p53 protein induces apoptosis by activating pro-apoptosis genes, which ultimately activate Apaf-1 and caspase 9 through different pathways. p53 can also activate genes involved in DNA repair (Chen, 2016).

Once p53 becomes activated in response to a stress signal, it gains the ability to bind to p53 responsive DNA sequence elements in the genome (Kearns et al., 2016). It has become clear that different types of stress signals as inputs result in different genes being transcribed under p53 control, but the mechanism is not fully understood (Chen, 2016). There are some p53

regulated genes that are transcribed in response to different types of stress signals and in all tissues responding to the stress, such as, p21, MDM2, GADD45, and others that are either stress or tissue specific, such as PTEN (Vousden & Prives, 2009). Still, what regulates these differences remains unclear.



Downstream Events of p53

Figure 5. The functions of p53, the genes controlled by p53 downstream, and the results of the p53 pathway. The p53 protein functions as an activator of transcription for genes regulated by p53, leading to three primary outcomes: stopping the cell cycle, inducing cellular senescence, or triggering apoptosis. Additionally, other p53-controlled genes help to interact with neighboring cells, repair DNA damage, or

establish feedback loops that boost or weaken p53 protein functions while integrating these stress responses with other signal transduction pathways (Levine et al., 2006)

Loss of p53 function

When p53 loses its function, and becomes destabilized, it can lead to the development of cancer. When this loss of function occurs, cells proliferate uncontrollably, the first hallmark of cancer growth. Mutations or functional inactivation of p53 is indicated in many cancer types and roughly half of these cases display mutant p53 that has lost its tumor suppressor function, while the other half exhibit decreased p53 levels due to overexpression of the E3 ubiquitin ligases murine double minute 2 (MDM2) and MDMX (Brooks & Gu, 2006). MDM2 decreases p53 levels by acting as a transcriptional inhibitor and as an E3 ligase facilitating degradation of p53 via the proteasome (Brooks & Gu, 2006). Overexpression of p53 and MDM2 is seen in many malignant cancers and is associated with poor prognosis due to the upregulation of genes involved with cellular growth (Brooks & Gu, 2006). There is overwhelming evidence that the major role of MDM2 and its related complexes is the targeting of p53 for proteasomal degradation (Brooks & Gu, 2006).

Typically, loss of p53 function happens in one of two ways: (1) point mutations in the p53 gene or (2) dysfunction or destabilization of protein(s) function that is/are involved in the p53 signaling pathways (Pflaum et al., 2014). In response to DNA damage, cellular stress and certain oncogenic proteins like p53 transactivates genes involved in one of three outcomes: (1) temporary cell cycle arrest, (2) permanent cell cycle arrest in the form of senescence, and (3) programmed cell death (Pflaum et al., 2014). These processes are essential for removing defective cells from the actively dividing cell population. Cells are motivated to repair mutations by halting the cell cycle or eliminate themselves through senescence or apoptosis, and p53

guarantees that these mechanisms take place. When p53 is inactive and incapable of carrying out this duty, the defective cell will persist through the cell cycle, multiply rapidly, and introduce faulty cells to the population (Chen, 2016).

The fact that p53 is absent or nonfunctional in a large quantity of human cancers implies its significance. Given this importance and the thousands of complex processes and safeguards our bodies undergo, it begs the question, why isn't there an alternative pathway should the first one experience dysfunction or damage? Having one central protein receive all the information is more efficient than several proteins receiving partial information, leading to the most effective response. However, this creates challenges when pathways destabilize as all roads seemingly lead back to p53. What specifically causes p53 to choose cell cycle arrest or senescence versus apoptosis and adopt one p53 dependent response over another is not fully understood.

Chronic stress and Cancer

Link between stress and cancer

Numerous clinical, epidemiological, and animal-based studies have explored the link between stress-related behaviors and cancer (Moreno-Smith et al., 2010). Evidence suggests that stress may have adverse effects on tumor progression and survival (Dai et al., 2020). This effect is mediated by neuroendocrine pathways and inflammation, which play a critical role in cancer progression. In addition, chronic stress may promote metastasis by interacting with the tumor microenvironment and enhancing processes that favor tumor growth (Dai et al., 2020).

Studies have also shown that increased cortisol levels have been associated with worse prognosis in cancer patients (Figueira et al., 2022). Chronic stress can result in neurohormonal

dysregulation affecting the immune system and therefore have an effect on cancer progression. Since the neuroendocrine and immune systems share common mediators and receptor signals, this suggests that the brain plays an immunoregulatory role (Haykin & Rolls, 2021). Cortisol may also promote DNA damage and interfere with DNA repair, mediated by glucocorticoid receptors (Antonova et al., 2011). In a preclinical model of chronic stress, researchers observed increased tumorigenesis and attenuation of p53 function which were hypothesized to be mediated by elevated glucocorticoids (Feng et al., 2012). These results suggest that cortisol downregulates p53 through glucocorticoid signaling. Furthermore, cancer patients who have abnormal plasma cortisol levels have been linked to experiencing shorter periods of being disease-free (Figueira et al., 2022). It's no surprise that cancer patients experience abnormally high levels of stress, anxiety, and depression during different phases of diagnosis and treatment. Newly diagnosed lung cancer patients shared both higher levels of depression and higher salivary cortisol levels compared to healthy adults (Hong et al., 2021). Stress exposure has also been proposed to contribute to the etiology of breast cancer, ovarian cancer, thyroid cancer, and possibly brain cancer, but there's a lack of knowledge regarding the intracellular pathways involved (Antonova et al., 2011).

Potential Mechanisms of Action

A meta-analysis of 165 studies on chronic stress demonstrated that psychosocial factors and chronic stressful life experiences are associated with higher cancer incidence, poorer cancer survival and outcomes, and higher mortality rates (Chida et al., 2008). Glucocorticoids are also believed to play an important role in malignant transformation, especially in solid tumors (Azher et al., 2016). Yan et al., conducted a study on the link between emotional stresses and the origin and development of different types of tumor cells. The results reveal that excessive activation of the HPA axis and cortisol binding to glucocorticoid receptors reduces the activity of both NF- κ B and Nrf2 inside cells and inhibits cellular immune responses (Yan et al., 2023). They therefore concluded that defects in these mechanisms can promote cancer cell growth via their escape from the typical immune surveillance safeguards (Yan et al., 2023).

The effects of catecholamines are mediated by nine α -adrenergic and β -adrenergic Gprotein coupled receptors, which are present on a wide range of cell types, including cancer cells Flint & Bovbjerg, 2012). Evidence suggests that the accumulation of DNA damage following chronic adrenergic stimulation as a result of chronic stress may be the result of β -adrenergic stimulation on two molecular pathways (Archer et al., 2021). The first one directly leading to DNA damage and the second leading to a reduction in p53 activity (Archer et al., 2021). Both pathways are activated as a result of stimulation of β 2-adrenoreceptors, with the ARBB1 facilitating AKT-mediated activation of MDMX, which in turn promotes MDM2 to bind and degrade p53 through phosphorylation of MDM2 Ser-166/186 (Hu et al., 2012). This effect is mediated by glucocorticoid induced protein kinase (SGK1), which is regulated by glucocorticoids (Hu et al., 2012). A retrospective analysis documented how cancer patients who were exposed to β -blockers for treatment of hypertension were less likely to experience tumor metastasis and survive longer (Na et al., 2018).

Stressors activate the SNS and the HPA-axis, resulting in the release of catecholamines, glucocorticoids, and pro-inflammatory cytokines like interleukin-1 (IL-1), interleukin-6 (IL-6), and TNF- α (Liu et al., 2017). The release of these sympathetic, neuroendocrine and immune mediators has been shown to have effects on immune function, physiology, and tumor biology. If neurohormones that are elevated during chronic stress activate MDM2 and subsequently

down-regulate p53, this could be a potential mechanism by which chronic stress promotes carcinogenesis. Chronic exposure to stress has also been linked to increased expression of inflammatory biomarkers in various cancer types. Inflammatory mediators, including IL-6, IL-12, IFN- γ , and TNF- α , have been shown to play a critical role in tumor growth and progression (Singh et al., 2019). It can therefore be hypothesized that CNS cancers are particularly vulnerable to the effects of stress related pathways suggesting that chronic emotions and chronic stress could contribute to the pathology of cancers. Collectively, this research suggests that stress is a modulator of cancer progression and metastasis through multiple intracellular pathways.



Figure 6. Schematic view of the effects of catecholamine's on DNA damage. Stress induced catecholamines activate the cAMP-PKA signaling pathway via β2-andrenergic receptors. This downstream reaction results in a variety of outputs such as DNA damage and p53 degradation. There are two pathways by which catecholamines can have an effect: one is through Gs-protein kinase A, and the other is through ARRB. Both pathways are triggered when β2-adrenoreceptors are stimulated. ARBB1 helps activate MDMX via AKT, which then encourages MDM2 to attach to and break down p53 (Dai et al., 2020).

Chapter 2: Materials and Methods

Cell Culture and Treatment

C8-S murine astrocytes (CRL-2535) and NE-4C p53 deficient murine astrocytes (CRL-2925) were obtained from the American Type Culture Collection (ATCC) and cultured in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium supplemented (DMEM) with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) (Gibco, USA) at 37°C, 5% CO₂. Supplemented media was changed every 2-3 days. Cells were split 1:10 and plated onto 6-well and 96-well plates (BD Falcon) and incubated with supplemented media for 24 h followed by pretreatment with corticosterone, (0µM-50µM) for 24 h and 48 h.

Cell Viability and Proliferation Assay

To examine viability, cells were dissociated and diluted with equal volumes of trypan blue dye (4%). Cell count averages were taken from hemocytometer to determine cell number and viability. The CyQUANT XTT Cell Viability Assay (Invitrogen) was used to assess the proliferation of NE-4C cells and C8-S cells exposed to corticosterone. Cultured cells were transferred to a 96-well plate in DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS. Cell proliferation was monitored by measuring the absorbance at 450 nm and 650 nm 24 h and 48 h using a microplate reader.

RNA Extraction and cDNA synthesis

C8-S cells and NE-4C cells were homogenized with RNA Lysis Buffer (Zymogen). Following the manufacturers' protocols, spin-column purification and extraction of total RNA was performed on homogenized cells (Quick-RNA Miniprep Kit, Zymogen). RNA preparations were treated with DNase I. Isolated total RNA then underwent first-strand cDNA synthesis using Superscript II Reverse Transcriptase with oligo(dT) primers (Invitrogen).

Gene Expression Analysis using RTqPCR

Expression of three genes (p53, PTEN, and MDM2) were quantified (Table 1). Primers were designed using Primer-BLAST and validated in literature and obtained from ThermoFisher Scientific. Real-time PCR (qPCR) was run on undiluted cDNA samples using the designed primers, and iQTM SYBR® Green Supermix (Bio-Rad). Samples were run in duplicate with the following parameters: 2 minutes at 94°C, 40 cycles at 94°C for 15 seconds, then 1 minute at 60°C.

Table 1.

Gene Symbol	Identification	Sequence	
P53	Tumor protein	Forward Reverse	GACTCAGCCTCTTGATGACT
		Reverse	GCAACAGATCGTCCATGCAG
PTEN	Phosphatase and tensin	Forward	ATTTCTGCGGCTGTTCCTCT
	nomolog	Reverse	ACGAGCTCGCTAATCCAGTG
MDM2 Murine Double Minute 2 Forward Reverse	Forward	CTCACCCTGGCTAAAGTTCTGT	
		Keverse	AATGGTTTTGGTCTAACCTGG
GAPDH	Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate	Forward Reverse	AGAGGGATGCTGCCCTTACC
	aenyarogenase		TGTCTACGGGACGAGGAAAC

Data Analysis

Gene expression graphs show Cq value against concentration of corticosterone. Specific absorbance values from viability testing are also displayed graphed against concentration of cortisol. All RT-qPCR and absorbance data was compiled and analyzed in Microsoft Excel and

one-way ANOVA using Prism. Amplification and melt curve graphs were produced in CFX Maestro qPCR analysis software.

Chapter 3: Results

Proliferation Assay and Cell Viability

Specific absorbance 24 hrs post-corticosterone treatment was highest in the control and 50uM for NE-4C cells (figure 1). There was a significant decrease in proliferation at 1.5uM-6.25uM, (P <0.01), followed by an increase in proliferation from 6.25uM-12.5uM that was also statistically significant (P <0.01). We observed a statistically significant increase in proliferation in the control from 24 hrs to 48 hrs (P<0.001), and a statistically significant increase in proliferation between 24 hrs and 48 hrs in 12.5uM-50uM (P<0.001). In 1.5uM-6.25uM there was also a significant increase in proliferation from 24 h to 48 h (P<0.01). At 48 hrs there was a significant increase in proliferation from 6.25uM-12.5uM (P <0.001), followed by a significant increase in proliferation from 6.25uM-12.5uM (P <0.01). At 48 hrs there was a significant increase in proliferation from 6.25uM-12.5uM (P <0.01). At 48 hrs there was also a significant increase in proliferation from 6.25uM-12.5uM (P <0.01). At 48 hrs there was also a significant increase in proliferation from 6.25uM-12.5uM (P <0.01). At 48 hrs there was also a significant increase in proliferation from 6.25uM-12.5uM (P <0.01). At 48 hrs there was also a significant increase in proliferation from 6.25uM-12.5uM (P <0.01). At 48 hrs there was also a significant increase in proliferation from 6.25uM-12.5uM (P <0.01). At 48 hrs there was also a significant increase in proliferation from 12.5uM and 25uM to 50uM (P <0.01).



Figure 1. Proliferation and Viability Assay of NE-4C Cells. Cells treated with 0uM-50uM cortisone and cell proliferation quantified using the cyquant xtt assay. Absorbance measure and 24 and 48 hrs post treatment at 450 nm and 650 nm.

Proliferation Assay and Cell Viability

Specific absorbance values were negligible at 24 hrs in C8-S cells (figure 2). At 48 hrs there was a significant increase in proliferation in the control, 1.5uM and 3.125uM sample (P < 0.001). There was a trending increase in proliferation from 3.125uM-50uM, however this was not statistically significant. The increase in proliferation observed at 24 hrs in the control was statistically significant compared to 48 hrs in 50uM (P < 0.001). There was also a statistically significant increase in proliferation at 24 hrs in the 50uM concentration. (P < 0.001).



Figure 2. Proliferation and Viability Assay of C8-S cells. Cells treated with 0uM-50uM cortisone and cell proliferation quantified using the cyquant xtt assay. Absorbance measure and 24 and 48 hrs post treatment at 450 nm and 650 nm.

There were no statistically significant differences in expression of the housekeeping gene, GAPDH, across varying corticosterone concentrations for either cell type (figure 3).



Figure 3. Gene expression analysis in treated NE-4C and C8-S cells at 48hr. NE-4C cells indicated in blue and C8-S cells indicated in orange.

NE-4C cells (indicated in blue) showed a statistically significant decrease in p53 expression from the control to 3.125uM (P <0.001) (figure 4). The decrease in expression seen at 3.125uM to 6.25uM was also statistically significant (P<0.001). There were no significant differences across 6.25uM-25uM. The decrease in expression from 6.25uM to 50uM was statistically significant (P <0.01). The decrease in expression from the control to 50uM was statistically significant (P <0.01). There were no significant differences in expression across C8-S cells (indicated in orange). There was a decrease in expression from the control and 3.125uM to 6.25uM followed by a slight increase at 12.5uM and another decrease at 25uM. None of these changes were significant (P >0.05). There was a statistically significant increase in expression seen in NE-4C cells compared to that of C8-S cells across concentrations (P <0.001).



Figure 4. Gene expression analysis in treated NE-4C and C8-S cells at 48hr. NE-4C cells indicated in blue and C8-S cells indicated in orange.

NE-4C cells (indicated in blue) showed several significant differences in MDM2 expression (figure 5). There was no significant decrease in expression between the control and 3.125uM (P >0.05), however there was a significant increase in expression from 3.125uM to 6.25uM (P <0.05). There was no significant change in expression from 6.25uM to 12.5uM, however the increase in MDM2 expression from 12.5uM to 25uM is significant (P <0.01). The increase in expression from 25uM to 50uM was not significant (P >0.05). There were no significant changes in MDM2 expression in C8-S cells (indicated in orange). There was however a significant difference in expression between C8-S and NE-4C cells across concentrations (P <0.001).



Figure 5. Gene expression analysis in treated NE-4C and C8-S cells at 48hr. NE-4C cells indicated in blue and C8-S cells indicated in orange.

Changes in PTEN expression across concentrations in C8-S cells (indicated in orange) were not statistically significant (figure 6). NE-4C cells (indicated in blue) showed several significant changes in expression. There was no significant decrease in expression from the control to 3.125uM. There was a significant decrease in expression from 3.125uM to 6.25uM (P <0.05). The decrease in expression from 6.25uM to 12.5uM was statistically significant (P <0.01). The increase in expression from 12.5uM to 25uM was not significant and neither was the decrease in expression from 25uM to 50uM (P >0.05). The difference in expression between C8-S cells and NE-4C cells was statistically significant (P <0.001).



Figure 6. Gene expression analysis in treated NE-4C and C8-S cells at 48hr. NE-4C cells indicated in blue and C8-S cells indicated in orange.

Chapter 4: Discussion

Proliferation Assay and Cell Viability

NE-4C and C8-S cells were treated with corticosterone concentrations ranging from 0uM-50uM. At 24 hrs and 48 hrs absorbance was read and mean absorbance was calculated by subtracting 450 nm from 650 nm and the averages for each concentration was calculated. The difference in proliferation between cell types was statistically significant (P <0.001) with the highest absorbance value for NE-4C cells at 1.1 nm and the highest absorbance value for C8-S cells was around 0.2 nm (figures 1 & 2).

It was expected that C8-S cells would not demonstrate high levels of proliferation as they are unmodified and healthy. Proliferation is highly regulated in healthy cells and is a necessary process for normal development and maintenance over the lifespan. This level of absorbance is indicative of normal cell division in healthy unmodified cells. This was also evident by the fact that the absorbance levels at 24 hrs were very low and negligible in the presence of corticosterone. This indicates that there was no rapid and uncontrolled proliferation occurring in the cells as a response to high levels of acute stress.

Although there was an increase in absorbance from 24 hrs to 48 hrs that was significant (P < 0.001), the absorbance levels were still low compared to that of NE-4C cells. While the change in absorbance at 48 hrs was significant, as was the control compared to 50uM, there were no significant differences in absorbance between 3.125uM and 50uM. This indicates that corticosterone has an insignificant effect on healthy cells and the cells were likely undergoing normal cell division. The effect of corticosterone on healthy cells alone doesn't indicate that it's enough to mutate healthy cells into cancerous cells without another mutation already present.

43

NE-4C cells that were p53 deficient showed significantly higher levels of absorbance and proliferation. At 24 hrs the absorbance of NE-4C cells surpassed the highest levels of absorbance seen at 48 hrs in C8-S cells. The absorbance seen in the control to 1.5uM-6.25uM of cortisone significantly decreased (P <0.01), suggesting that low to moderate levels of cortisol or acute stressors could potentially be beneficial for regulating uncontrolled proliferation. The significant increase in absorbance seen at higher concentrations of cortisol (P <0.01), suggests that exposure to high levels of cortisol or chronic stress might be contributing to or worsening proliferation in already mutated cells. This increase in proliferation was consistent with the decrease in p53 expression in higher concentrations of cortisone in the gene expression analysis.

Gene Expression Analysis

Expression in the housekeeping gene, GAPDH showed no significant changes or variation across cell type or concentration. In figure 4, we see the highest levels of p53 expression across NE-4C cells. There was a significant decrease in expression from the control to 3.125uM-50uM (P <0.001). Corticosterone is causing a significant decrease in p53 expression in mutated cells, suggesting that corticosterone is somehow modifying p53 expression possibly through the MDM2 feedback loop through the increased expression seen in MDM2. In C8-S cells, corticosterone does not have a significant effect on p53 expression. p53 is expressed at very low levels in healthy cells, so we wouldn't expect C8-S cells to undergo significant changes in p53 expression as the result of exposure to corticosterone. This further indicates that exposure to cortisol or acute stressors does not have a significant impact on proto-oncogenes in healthy cells. This exemplifies the significant difference between NE-4C cells and C8-S cells as p53

mutated is frequently mutated in cancer and plays a vital role in cell cycle regulation, apoptosis, and uncontrolled proliferation.

Figure 5 shows MDM2 expression completely opposite of p53 expression in NE-4C cells. MDM2 expression significantly increased as corticosterone concentrations increased (P <0.001). There was no significant change across expression in C8-S cells, which was expected because MDM2 expression is normally kept low by MDMX in healthy cells. The opposite expression patterns in MDM2 and p53 indicate that the overexpression of MDM2 as a result of exposure to corticosterone is negatively regulating p53 function causing a decrease in expression. This is also consistent with the proliferation assay in NE-4C cells. Because MDM2 negatively inhibits p53, its increase in response to increasing corticosterone concentrations in NE-4C cells is important and may point to a potential target mechanism.

PTEN expression in C8-S cells (figure 6) was generally low and showed no significant changes across concentration. Since PTEN is downstream of p53 it would be expected that PTEN expression would be somewhat similar to p53. In NE-4C cells, PTEN followed a similar pattern to p53, where increasing corticosterone concentrations generally caused a decrease in PTEN expression. In NE-4C cells there was a significant decrease in expression in the control compared to 50uM (P <0.001). This suggests that exposure to high levels of corticosterone is modifying the p53-MDM2 feedback loop and pathway. PTEN is a critical regulator in the proliferation pathway, making this result significant given the role of proliferation as a hallmark of cancer.

45

Conclusion

As previously discussed, increased glucocorticoid activity is associated with upregulation of MDM2, which the results confirm. It was hypothesized that increasing corticosterone concentrations as a result of chronic stress would mediate p53 and PTEN through the induction of the SGK1 pathway. This would cause increased MDM2 activity and decreased p53 and PTEN function through the MDM2-p53 feedback loop. MDM2 is the primary negative regulator of p53 and overexpression of MDM2 causes decreased p53 levels and attenuates p53 function. The findings of this study demonstrate that where MDM2 is up-regulated with increasing corticosterone concentrations, it causes corresponding decreases in p53 and PTEN function. This was also confirmed by the increase in proliferation seen in NE-4C cells.

In NE-4C cells, MDM2 expression generally increased with increasing concentrations of corticosterone, whereas p53 expression decreased as cortisol concentrations increased. Similarly, PTEN expression decreased as corticosterone concentrations increased. This suggests that corticosterone or chronic stress affects MDM2 and subsequently p53 as part of its feedback loop, which then affects PTEN as a downstream mediator. Since PTEN is part of the IGF-1/mTOR pathway, which regulates proliferation, it was expected to see an increase in proliferation as expression of p53 and PTEN decreased. The proliferation assay confirms this, as proliferation increased with increasing corticosterone concentrations. In untransformed C8-S cells, MDM2, p53, and PTEN expression were much lower. Exposure to cortisol may or may not be affecting healthy cells. It's likely that the effect is not significant enough to cause cancer, but might cause cells to behave differently in the presence of a mutation.

Future directions for this project include exposing C8-S cells to corticosterone for a

46

longer period of time and measuring proliferation. Additionally, looking at protein expression using western blot would be necessary to see how the pathways are being affected on a protein level. It's also important to consider the regulation that occurs between mRNA and active protein, and further explore post-transcriptional regulation. Finally, expanding the gene and protein analysis to a different or larger portion of the pathway would be necessary to see if these changes are also occurring in other parts of the stress and p53 pathway. The results of this experiment indicate that corticosterone is acting directly on MDM2, not p53. Therefore, MDM2 could serve as a good target to modulate p53 when developing cancer therapeutics and performing cancer research.

References

Alberts, B. (2022). *Molecular biology of the cell*. W.W. Norton and Company.

- Antonova, L., Aronson, K., & Mueller, C. R. (2011). Stress and breast cancer: From Epidemiology to Molecular Biology. *Breast Cancer Research*, 13(2). https://doi.org/10.1186/bcr2836
- Archer, M., Dogra, N., Dovey, Z., Ganta, T., Jang, H.-S., Khusid, J. A., Lantz, A., Mihalopoulos, M., Stockert, J. A., Zahalka, A., Björnebo, L., Gaglani, S., Noh, M. R., Kaplan, S. A., Mehrazin, R., Badani, K. K., Wiklund, P., Tsao, K., Lundon, D. J., ... Kyprianou, N. (2021). Role of α- and β-adrenergic signaling in phenotypic targeting: Significance in benign and malignant urologic disease. *Cell Communication and Signaling*, *19*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12964-021-00755-6
- Ashcroft, M., Taya, Y., & Vousden, K. H. (2000). Stress signals utilize multiple pathways to stabilize p53. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 20(9), 3224–3233. https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.20.9.3224-3233.2000
- Azher, S., Azami, O., Amato, C., McCullough, M., Celentano, A., & Cirillo, N. (2016). The nonconventional effects of glucocorticoids in cancer. *Journal of Cellular Physiology*, 231(11), 2368–2373. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.25408
- Baba, A. I., & Cătoi Cornel. (2007). Comparative oncology. The Publishing House of the Romanian Academy.

- Banu, Z. (2019). Glioblastoma multiforme: A review of its pathogenesis and treatment.
 International Research Journal Of Pharmacy, 9(12), 7–12. https://doi.org/10.7897/2230-8407.0912283
- Brooks, C. L., & Gu, W. (2006). P53 ubiquitination: MDM2 and beyond. *Molecular Cell*, *21*(3), 307–315. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2006.01.020
- Cavalcante, G. C., Schaan, A. P., Cabral, G. F., Santana-da-Silva, M. N., Pinto, P., Vidal, A. F., & Ribeiro-dos-Santos, Â. (2019). A cell's fate: An overview of the molecular biology and genetics of apoptosis. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 20(17), 4133. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms20174133
- Chatterjee, N., & Walker, G. C. (2017). Mechanisms of DNA damage, repair, and mutagenesis. *Environmental and Molecular Mutagenesis*, 58(5), 235–263. https://doi.org/10.1002/em.22087
- Chen, J. (2016). The cell-cycle arrest and apoptotic functions of p53 in tumor initiation and progression. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Medicine*, 6(3). https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a026104
- Chida, Y., Hamer, M., Wardle, J., & Steptoe, A. (2008). Do stress-related psychosocial factors contribute to cancer incidence and survival? *Nature Clinical Practice Oncology*, 5(8), 466–475. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncponc1134
- Chovatiya, R., & Medzhitov, R. (2014). Stress, inflammation, and defense of homeostasis. *Molecular Cell*, *54*(2), 281–288. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2014.03.030
- Cole, S. W., Nagaraja, A. S., Lutgendorf, S. K., Green, P. A., & Sood, A. K. (2015). Sympathetic nervous system regulation of the tumour microenvironment. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, 15(9), 563–572. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc3978

- Cooper, G. (2000). Tumor Suppressor Genes. In *The cell: A molecular approach* (2nd ed.). essay, Sinauer Associates, Inc.
- Costello, L. C., & Franklin, R. B. (2011). The genetic/metabolic transformation concept of carcinogenesis. *Cancer and Metastasis Reviews*, 31(1-2), 123–130. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10555-011-9334-8
- Coutinho, A. E., & Chapman, K. E. (2011). The anti-inflammatory and immunosuppressive effects of glucocorticoids, recent developments and mechanistic insights. *Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology*, *335*(1), 2–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mce.2010.04.005
- Dai, S., Mo, Y., Wang, Y., Xiang, B., Liao, Q., Zhou, M., Li, X., Li, Y., Xiong, W., Li, G., Guo, C., & Zeng, Z. (2020). Chronic stress promotes cancer development. *Frontiers in Oncology*, *10*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2020.01492
- Deng, Y., Chan, S. S., & Chang, S. (2008). Telomere dysfunction and tumour suppression: The senescence connection. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, 8(6), 450–458. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc2393
- Dhabhar, F. S. (2009). Enhancing versus suppressive effects of stress on immune function: Implications for immunoprotection and immunopathology. *Neuroimmunomodulation*, *16*(5), 300–317. https://doi.org/10.1159/000216188
- E. Tamura, R., F. de Vasconcellos, J., Sarkar, D., A. Libermann, T., B. Fisher, P., & F. Zerbini,
 L. (2012). Gadd45 proteins: Central Players in tumorigenesis. *Current Molecular Medicine*, *12*(5), 634–651. https://doi.org/10.2174/156652412800619978
- El-Aouar Filho, R. A., Nicolas, A., De Paula Castro, T. L., Deplanche, M., De CarvalhoAzevedo, V. A., Goossens, P. L., Taieb, F., Lina, G., Le Loir, Y., & Berkova, N. (2017).Heterogeneous family of cyclomodulins: Smart weapons that allow bacteria to hijack the

eukaryotic cell cycle and promote infections. *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology*, 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcimb.2017.00208

- Elmore, S. (2007). Apoptosis: A review of Programmed Cell Death. *Toxicologic Pathology*, *35*(4), 495–516. https://doi.org/10.1080/01926230701320337
- Farooq, U., & Notani, D. (2022). Transcriptional regulation of INK4/ARF locus by CIS and Trans Mechanisms. *Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology*, 10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2022.948351

Feitelson, M. A., Arzumanyan, A., Kulathinal, R. J., Blain, S. W., Holcombe, R. F., Mahajna, J., Marino, M., Martinez-Chantar, M. L., Nawroth, R., Sanchez-Garcia, I., Sharma, D., Saxena, N. K., Singh, N., Vlachostergios, P. J., Guo, S., Honoki, K., Fujii, H., Georgakilas, A. G., Bilsland, A., ... Nowsheen, S. (2015). Sustained proliferation in cancer: Mechanisms and novel therapeutic targets. *Seminars in Cancer Biology*, *35*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semcancer.2015.02.006

Feng, Z., Liu, L., Zhang, C., Zheng, T., Wang, J., Lin, M., Zhao, Y., Wang, X., Levine, A. J., & Hu, W. (2012). Chronic restraint stress attenuates p53 function and promotes tumorigenesis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *109*(18), 7013–7018. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1203930109

Figueira, J. A., Sarafim-Silva, B. A., Gonçalves, G. M., Aranha, L. N., Lopes, F. L., Corrente, J. E., Biasoli, É. R., Miyahara, G. I., & Bernabé, D. G. (2022). Predisposing factors for increased cortisol levels in oral cancer patients. *Comprehensive Psychoneuroendocrinology*, *9*, 100110. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpnec.2022.100110

Flint, M. S., & Bovbjerg, D. H. (2012). DNA damage as a result of psychological stress: Implications for breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Research*, 14(5). https://doi.org/10.1186/bcr3189

Godoy, L. D., Rossignoli, M. T., Delfino-Pereira, P., Garcia-Cairasco, N., & de Lima Umeoka,
E. H. (2018). A comprehensive overview on stress neurobiology: Basic concepts and clinical implications. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience*, *12*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2018.00127

- Goldstein, D. S. (2010). Adrenal responses to stress. *Cellular and Molecular Neurobiology*, *30*(8), 1433–1440. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10571-010-9606-9
- Greten, F. R., & Grivennikov, S. I. (2019). Inflammation and cancer: Triggers, mechanisms, and consequences. *Immunity*, *51*(1), 27–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2019.06.025
- Hanahan, D. (2022). Hallmarks of cancer: New dimensions. *Cancer Discovery*, *12*(1), 31–46. https://doi.org/10.1158/2159-8290.cd-21-1059
- Hanahan, D., & Weinberg, R. A. (2011). Hallmarks of cancer: The next generation. *Cell*, *144*(5), 646–674. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013
- Haykin, H., & Rolls, A. (2021). The neuroimmune response during stress: A physiological perspective. *Immunity*, *54*(9), 1933–1947. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2021.08.023
- Hernández Borrero, L. J., & El-Deiry, W. S. (2021). Tumor suppressor p53: Biology, signaling pathways, and therapeutic targeting. *Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Reviews on Cancer*, 1876(1), 188556. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbcan.2021.188556
- Hong, H., Ji, M., & Lai, D. (2021). Chronic stress effects on tumor: Pathway and mechanism. *Frontiers in Oncology*, 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2021.738252

- Hu, W., Feng, Z., & Levine, A. J. (2012). The regulation of multiple p53 stress responses is mediated through MDM2. *Genes & Cancer*, 3(3-4), 199–208.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/1947601912454734
- Jaiswal, S. K., Raj, S., & DePamphilis, M. L. (2021). Developmental acquisition of p53 functions. *Genes*, 12(11), 1675. https://doi.org/10.3390/genes12111675
- Jin, S., & Levine, A. J. (2001). The p53 functional circuit. *Journal of Cell Science*, *114*(23), 4139–4140. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.114.23.4139
- Juster, R.-P., McEwen, B. S., & Lupien, S. J. (2010). Allostatic load biomarkers of chronic stress and impact on health and cognition. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 35(1), 2–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2009.10.002
- Kearns, S., Lurz, R., Orlova, E. V., & Okorokov, A. L. (2016). Two p53 tetramers bind one consensus DNA response element. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 44(13), 6185–6199. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkw215
- Lanoix, D., & Plusquellec, P. (2013). Adverse effects of pollution on Mental Health: The Stress
 Hypothesis. *OA Evidence-Based Medicine*, *1*(1). https://doi.org/10.13172/2053-2636-1-1572
- Lee, E. Y., & Muller, W. J. (2010). Oncogenes and tumor suppressor genes. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*, 2(10). https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a003236

Levine, A. J., Hu, W., & Feng, Z. (2006). The P53 pathway: What questions remain to be explored? *Cell Death & Differentiation*, 13(6), 1027–1036. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.cdd.4401910

- Liu, Y., Tian, S., Ning, B., Huang, T., Li, Y., & Wei, Y. (2022). Stress and cancer: The mechanisms of immune dysregulation and management. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 13. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2022.1032294
- Liu, Y.-Z., Wang, Y.-X., & Jiang, C.-L. (2017). Inflammation: The common pathway of stressrelated diseases. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2017.00316
- Lowe, S. W., & Lin, A. W. (2000). Apoptosis in cancer. *Carcinogenesis*, *21*(3), 485–495. https://doi.org/10.1093/carcin/21.3.485
- Machamer, C. E. (2015). The golgi complex in stress and death. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, *9*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2015.00421
- Mariotti, A. (2015). The effects of chronic stress on Health: New Insights Into the molecular mechanisms of brain–body communication. *Future Science OA*, *1*(3). https://doi.org/10.4155/fso.15.21
- Mathur, M. B., Epel, E., Kind, S., Desai, M., Parks, C. G., Sandler, D. P., & Khazeni, N. (2016).
 Perceived stress and telomere length: A systematic review, meta-analysis, and
 methodologic considerations for advancing the field. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, 54, 158–169. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2016.02.002
- Mfossa, A.-C. M., Verslegers, M., Verreet, T., Fida, H. bin, Mysara, M., Van IJcken, W. F. J.,
 De Vos, W. H., Moons, L., Baatout, S., Benotmane, M. A., Huylebroeck, D., & Quintens,
 R. (2020). P53 drives premature neuronal differentiation in response to radiation-induced
 DNA damage during early neurogenesis. https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.06.26.171132

- Michaud, K., Matheson, K., Kelly, O., & Anisman, H. (2008). Impact of stressors in a natural context on release of cortisol in healthy adult humans: A meta-analysis. *Stress*, *11*(3), 177–197. https://doi.org/10.1080/10253890701727874
- Miller, K. D., Ostrom, Q. T., Kruchko, C., Patil, N., Tihan, T., Cioffi, G., Fuchs, H. E., Waite, K. A., Jemal, A., Siegel, R. L., & Barnholtz-Sloan, J. S. (2021). Brain and other Central Nervous System Tumor Statistics, 2021. *CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians*, *71*(5), 381–406. https://doi.org/10.3322/caac.21693
- Mohd Azmi, N. A., Juliana, N., Azmani, S., Mohd Effendy, N., Abu, I. F., Mohd Fahmi Teng, N.
 I., & Das, S. (2021). Cortisol on circadian rhythm and its effect on cardiovascular system. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(2), 676.
 https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18020676
- Moreno-Smith, M., Lutgendorf, S. K., & Sood, A. K. (2010). Impact of stress on Cancer metastasis. *Future Oncology*, 6(12), 1863–1881. https://doi.org/10.2217/fon.10.142
- Na, Z., Qiao, X., Hao, X., Fan, L., Xiao, Y., Shao, Y., Sun, M., Feng, Z., Guo, W., Li, J., Li, J., & Li, D. (2018). The effects of beta-blocker use on cancer prognosis: A meta-analysis based on 319,006 patients. *OncoTargets and Therapy*, *Volume 11*, 4913–4944. https://doi.org/10.2147/ott.s167422
- Ozaki, T., & Nakagawara, A. (2011). Role of p53 in cell death and human cancers. *Cancers*, 3(1), 994–1013. https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers3010994
- Pariante, C. M., Thomas, S. A., Lovestone, S., Makoff, A., & Kerwin, R. W. (2004). Do antidepressants regulate how cortisol affects the brain? *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 29(4), 423–447. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2003.10.009

- Park, J. H., de Lomana, A. L., Marzese, D. M., Juarez, T., Feroze, A., Hothi, P., Cobbs, C., Patel, A. P., Kesari, S., Huang, S., & Baliga, N. S. (2021). A systems approach to brain tumor treatment. *Cancers*, *13*(13), 3152. https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers13133152
- Parrish, A. B., Freel, C. D., & Kornbluth, S. (2013). Cellular mechanisms controlling caspase activation and function. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*, 5(6). https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a008672
- Pflaum, J., Schlosser, S., & MÃ¹/₄ller, M. (2014). P53 family and cellular stress responses in cancer. *Frontiers in Oncology*, *4*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2014.00285
- Reed, S., & Quelle, D. (2014). P53 acetylation: Regulation and consequences. *Cancers*, 7(1), 30–69. https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers7010030
- Renehan, A. G. (2001). What is apoptosis, and why is it important? *BMJ*, *322*(7301), 1536–1538. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.322.7301.1536
- Robinson, N. J., & Schiemann, W. P. (2022). Telomerase in cancer: Function, regulation, and clinical translation. *Cancers*, 14(3), 808. https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers14030808
- Rossi, F., Noren, H., Jove, R., Beljanski, V., & Grinnemo, K.-H. (2020). Differences and similarities between cancer and somatic stem cells: Therapeutic implications. *Stem Cell Research & Therapy*, *11*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-020-02018-6
- Roxburgh, C. S., & McMillan, D. C. (2014). Cancer and systemic inflammation: Treat the tumour and treat the host. *British Journal of Cancer*, *110*(6), 1409–1412. https://doi.org/10.1038/bjc.2014.90
- Schneiderman, N., Ironson, G., & Siegel, S. D. (2005). Stress and health: Psychological, behavioral, and biological determinants. *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology*, 1(1), 607–628. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.clinpsy.1.102803.144141

- Segerstrom, S. C., & Miller, G. E. (2004). Psychological stress and the human immune system: A meta-analytic study of 30 years of inquiry. *Psychological Bulletin*, *130*(4), 601–630. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.130.4.601
- Selye, H. (1950). Stress and the general adaptation syndrome. *BMJ*, *1*(4667), 1383–1392. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.1.4667.1383
- Shammas, M. A. (2011). Telomeres, lifestyle, cancer, and aging. *Current Opinion in Clinical Nutrition and Metabolic Care*, 14(1), 28–34. https://doi.org/10.1097/mco.0b013e32834121b1
- Singh, N., Baby, D., Rajguru, J. P., Patil, P. B., Thakkannavar, S. S., & Pujari, V. B. (2019). Inflammation and cancer. *Annals of African Medicine*, 18(3), 121. https://doi.org/10.4103/aam.aam 56 18
- Smith, S. M., & Vale, W. W. (2006). The role of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis in neuroendocrine responses to stress. *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience*, 8(4), 383–395. https://doi.org/10.31887/dcns.2006.8.4/ssmith
- Soussi, T. (2010). The history of p53. *EMBO Reports*, 11(11), 822–826. https://doi.org/10.1038/embor.2010.159
- Souza-Talarico, J. N., Marin, M.-F., Sindi, S., & Lupien, S. J. (2011). Effects of stress hormones on the brain and cognition: Evidence from normal to pathological aging. *Dementia & Neuropsychologia*, 5(1), 8–16. https://doi.org/10.1590/s1980-57642011dn05010003
- Tedeschi, A., & Di Giovanni, S. (2009). The non-apoptotic role of p53 in neuronal biology: Enlightening the dark side of the moon. *EMBO Reports*, 10(6), 576–583. https://doi.org/10.1038/embor.2009.89

- Vousden, K. H., & Prives, C. (2009). Blinded by the light: The growing complexity of p53. *Cell*, *137*(3), 413–431. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2009.04.037
- Wong, R. S. Y. (2011). Apoptosis in cancer: From pathogenesis to treatment. *Journal of Experimental & Clinical Cancer Research*, *30*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/1756-9966-30-87
- Yan, J., Chen, Y., Luo, M., Hu, X., Li, H., Liu, Q., & Zou, Z. (2023). Chronic stress in solid tumor development: From mechanisms to interventions. *Journal of Biomedical Science*, 30(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12929-023-00903-9
- Zong, H., Verhaak, R. G. W., & Canoll, P. (2012). The cellular origin for malignant glioma and prospects for clinical advancements. *Expert Review of Molecular Diagnostics*, 12(4), 383–394. https://doi.org/10.1586/erm.12.30